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274 Moscow, the Magnificent.

the most part at second hand, and on faith, but what he
can see is far differently treated, for he has some tangible
evidence of its reality; and if he cannot believe all the
wonderful tales of his encyclopzdic courier—and much of
the pleasure of sight-seeing is in believing—he can at least
fall back on written history and find enough to charm
him.

The city is unique in its way, and is one of the world’s
great centres in more senses than one, though it has few
of the characteristics of other European cities. It scems
like a gigantic village when viewed from some lofty
tower, for, with the exception of the more densely pop-
ulated portions, the houses are scarcely ever more than
two stories high, generally situated in a garden or court,
and surrounded by a wall. One of the striking peculiari-
ties of the city, however, is its lack of unity in the various
parts. It is a most curious mixture of the grand and
the miserable.

As we pass along some magnificent street nothing
would seem to be wanting to make the surroundings
perfect, but a few steps to one side bring us into rough,
irregular passage-ways whose pavement is hard to de-
scribe and which can only be spoken of as orientally un-
clean.

The city was founded in 1147 by the Grand Duke of
Kief, Jury Wladimirowitch Dolgoruky, but was of no
importance until the Grand Duke Ivan transferred his
residence thither in 1328, from which time it became
the centre of the Russias; and his example was soon
followed by the Metropolitan, Theognost, the ecclesias-
tical head of the Greek church.

In 1339 Ivan surrounded the city with a wooden
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276 Moscow, the Magnificent.

enemies, and then setting fire to their homes. On Sept.
15th the French made anything but a triumphal entry
into the city, now about two-thirds burned, and two
days later they retired, leaving behind them 40,000 of
that proud army of 150,000 men (which had been so
successful up to this point) to die of hunger. T'his was
the turning-point in the career of the “man of fate,” and
ever after, in spite of his desperate efforts, nothing seemed
able to stay his downward course. Perhaps if the 400,-
ooo men left on the weary Russian wastes, the best
blood of France and the finest soldiers the world had
ever seen, had not been sacrificed to ambition, the
fate of the great Emperor would have been different.
The spot towards which the traveller first makes his
way will probably be the famous public square of the
city, the Krasnaja or Red Place. It isusually approached
through the Iberian gate, an archway under a build-
ing which also contains the chapel of the Iberian Ma-
donna. This chapel contains a copy of the Mt. Athos
picture made in 1648, and is held in great repute among
the Russians, nearly every one of whom enters the chapel,
for a few moments at least, as he passes under the arch.
The picture is believed to possess great power and 1s
often removed from its place to be taken to the bedside
of the sick, or to lend the benign influence exerted by
its presence to increase the joy of family festivals.
When it is thus taken away its place is occupied by a
copy, while the original is placed in a carriage drawn
by six horses, accompanied by liveried men, and is thus
borne to its destination. These visits are well paid for,
the chapel receiving the equivalent of fifty dollars for
each one. Passing under the archway we come out
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278 Moscow, the Magnificent.

square bears the inscription, “ A thankful Russia to the
peasant Minin and the prince Posharsky,” and recalls
the troublesome times of the interregnum of 1606—13.
It was erected by Alexander I. in 1818, and is a handsome
bronze group upon a granite base, with reliefs on the
sides representing the liberality of the people. The
loyal patriot Posharsky was born in 1578. He killed
Dmitry at Colomna in 1608, dispersed the robber hordes
in 1609, but in an uprising against Wasili was wounded
near Moscow in 1611. He was taken from the battle-
field to the Troizki cloisters, and then fled to his estates.
At this juncture Minin, a butcher from Nizni Novgorod,
came to his aid with money, men and arms, and he is
represented on the monument as in the act of placing a
sword in the hands of the Prince and inciting him to ac-
tion. The result of this co-operation was a three days’
battle in 1612, which ended 1in their enemies being driven
away, and Russia was once more free.

We shall now turn to the consideration of St Basil,
probably the most fantastic building in Moscow. It was
built by Ivan the Terrible in 1554, and commemorates the
taking of Kazan. The two stories contain eleven chap-
els, which are connected by labyrinthine paths, and are
crowned by a dozen curiously carved domes, all of dif-
ferent shapes, and decorated with the most striking con-
trasts in color. The apostles of polychromatic architec-
ture will find all their longings satishied here. The old
story of the relations between the Czar and the archi-
tect is interesting in spite of the number of grains of salt
which must necessarily be taken with 1it. Upon the
completion of the structure, the autocrat 1s said to have
asked whether its author could construct another such
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280 Moscow, the Magnificent.

The facade has eight well-proportioned Corinthian col-
umns at the front of the portico, and a quadriga, or four-
horse chariot, a magnificent piece of bronze, representing
Pheebus in the chariot of the sun, crowns the richly
adorned portal.

Moscow may be well said to be a city of contrasts, not
only between the extremes of the palace and the cabin,
but also between the palaces themselves. In many of
these the former splendor is gone, but they have been
made the repositories of countless treasures, and trans-
formed into museums. Many have been used for other
purposes, and altogether they form one of the peculiar-
ities of the city, but a passing mention of a few is all
that our space will allow.

The Paschkoff House, built in the Renaissance style,
is now known as the Rumjanzoff Museum, as it contains
the collections made by Count Rumjanzoff for the Gov-
ernment in 1828. They were placed herein 1861. The
lower floor contains a fine library of 200,000 volumes,
which is rich in historic works, particularly those relating
to Slavic and Old Russian history. In the exhibition
rooms above we find, among many other collections,
that of Kotzebue, the celebrated navigator, comprising
the ethnological objects brought together in his trip
around the world. There is also a very instructive
group of figures to be seen here, giving by means of
original costumes from all parts of Russia a very good
idea of the differences to be found among the various
races under the sway of the Czar.

Another interesting as well as remarkable building
is the Ssucharew tower, built by Peterthe Great in 1695 in
honor of the Ssucharew regiment, which protected the
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282 Moscow, the Magnificent.

taken the veil in this convent, among the most noted
being the Czarina Irene after the death of Feodor L
Here Peter the Great placed his sister for her intrigues.
It will be remembered that the Strelitzians rose and
offered her the throne. After this rebellion was put
down, Peter considerately had some three hundred of the
rebels hung before the window of his sister’s cell, which
is still pointed out; and as though this were not enough,
he had the hand of Prince Chowanski, one of the con-
spirators, nailed in the window itself.  Just as the French
were leaving Moscow they tried to blow up this convent,
but the catastrophe was prevented by the bravery of the
nuns.

Probably the finest monastery in this whole region is
the Troizki Monastery, situated not far from Moscow.
Next to the famous monastery of Kiev, it is without
doubt the finest and richest in the nation. [lts wall with
eight towers surrounds a royal palace, a theological
seminary with a very valuable library, the residence of
the Archimandrite, and svelve churches and chapels, with
countless towers and domes, all of which are gilded or
most elaborately painted. The history of this place is
long and interesting, though bound up with much that is
superstitious. Its humble beginning was made in the
small wooden chapel built on the site of the present
Trinity church by the Abbot Sergius. His piety soon
drew the monks from all quarters towards the spot, and
such was his reputation that on the death of Alexius he
was chosen Metropolitan, the highest ecclesiastical hon-
or of the .Greek church. During one of the Tartar
invasions the establishment, which was then very re-
nowned, was destroyed. A few years later, the unde-
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284 Moscow, the Magnificent.

painted by Ssemeradskiand will repay close investigation,
for it is a wonderful character study and is peculiarly
impressive, being clearly conceived and strikingly exe-
cuted. There are four other great paintings, which occu-
Py the niches in the intersecting points of the arms of
the Greek cross, and face the central part of the church
under the main dome ; that directly behind the spot
where the Czar stands during service, when here, repre-
sents the anointing of David, and is probably the best
of the four. The impression produced by this enormous
mass, with its treasures of art, its wealth in gold and
precious stones, and its graceful and highly ornate altar,
1s hard to describe. We often speak of barbaric splen-
dor, but this is no place for such statements ; here all the
requirements of art and taste are fully met, and nothing
disturbs the thrill of satisfaction and awe with which
every one passes among the countless brilliant objects.

Nothing seems wanting to complete the charm until
the grand burst of harmony with which the service
begins, and then this is recognized to be indeed a tem-
ple perfect in every respect,

We shall now turn our stepsto the Kremlin, in which
all the memories of the past centre.

It is a great collection of cathedrals, palaces and
state buildings, surrounded by a massive wall sixty feet
high and a mile and a half long, with many towers and
five gates, one upon each of its five sides, and all inter-
esting from their architecture or history.

We pass in by the Holy Gate, the most remarkable
of all the gates of Moscow. The older portion of the
tower was built in 1491 and the clock tower was added
in 1626. There is a chapel on each side of the door-
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286 Moscow, the Magnificent.

ill-gotten gain served him for only a short time. Napo-
leon ordered him to be put to death, using those words,
so characteristic of him, “J’aime la trahison et je déteste
le traitre.”

At the base of the tower lies the great bell of Mos-
cow, and it is the historic bell of the place. When first
cast in 1553 it weighed 36,000 1lbs ; it was re-cast in 1654
and then weighed 288,000 lbs, and was hung at that
time on a frame at the foot of the tower. It fell in 1 706,
and in 1733 was cast once more, 444,000 lbs. of metal
being used in its construction : it was hung again on a
frame, but four years later the enormous weight proved
too much for its supports and it fell, a large piece break-
ing from one side. Some years later it was placed upon
the stone terrace where it now stands, the wonder of
every one. It required twenty-four men to move the
clapperin the days when it was used, and twenty persons
can pass in an upright position through the hole in its
side as it now stands, and find space to accommddate
them inside. In the larger parts the metal has a thick-
ness of two feet.

Every stranger is surprised at the number of the -

bells, but must admit that their sound at evening is
one of the peculiar charms of the city. Their sweet
tones are said to be due to the method of their con-
struction and to the amount of silver and gold used in
the compound. The peasants have the greatest rever-
ence for these bells, and the weary and footsore pilgrim,
as he trudges on towards this Russian Mecca, is said to
forget all his trials when at last he hears their music far
off, it may be on the distant hillsides. At any rate their
bells are very different from ours, and it is quite true, as
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288 Moscow, the Magnificert.

In many respects this is the most interesting spot in
Moscow. Between the four great central columns the
coronation platform is erected. The Czar having separ-
ated himself from the people and fasted several days,
enters the thronged cathedral attended by the most gor-
geous pageant that the world probably ever sees; he
ascends the platform, speaks, confessing his faith in the
doctrines of the church, prays for his empire, and then,
taking the crown, crowns himself, for no one is high or
holy enough to crown him. He then goes into the
Holy of Holies and takes the sacrament of the Commun-
ion, and thus alone consecrates himself to the throne of
Russia. From lvan the Terrible down to the present
time all the Czars have been self-crowned on this spot.
Here lie the great ecclesiastical heads of the Russian
church—the Metropolitans. Among the treasures of
this church are a nail of the cross and a piece of the
seamless robe.

Near by is the church of the Archangel Michael,
which contains the sarcophagi and relics of the Rurik
and Romanof dynasties. One of the most curious of
these 1s the cotfin of Demetrius, the son of Ivan. He
disappeared very mysteriously, and his remains are said
to have been found by a miracle. They are greatly
reverenced by the peasants, who kiss a portion of the
Prince’s forehead, which is exposed through a hole 1n the
lid of the coffin. The church treasury is very rich, one
source of its income being the holy oil which is prepared
here. This oil is used in all ceremonies, such as baptism
and the like, and is composed of gums, balsam and costly
spices. Its holiness consists in the fact that it is sup-
posed to be the same oil as that with which Mary anoint-
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stone in 1484, and this has been added to or modified by
each succeeding sovereign in some way or other, the
greatest improvement being the addition made by the
Czar Nicholas I., which contains the grand state apart-
ments and in all some seven hundred rooms. The
house-warming occurred on April 3rd, 1849, when the
Emperor received bread and salt from the chief cities
and provinces of the Empire as an expression of their
congratulations. The rich gold salvers and salt cellars
which contained these gifts now adorn the walls of the
main state halls of the Palace. The Empress Catharine
planned a palace for the same site which would have
been the wonder of the world if i1t had been completed.
The model alone, now on exhibition in the treasury, cost
the sum of $15,000.

The Granowitaja and the Terem are the only
remains of the older palaces—and we shall look at
these first.

The Terem consists of two portions. The two
stories composing the upper portion or ‘“ Belvidere
Palace” are smaller than the two lower, and the space
on the roof thus left open is called the Holy Floor. The
two lower stories were built by Ivan I11. in the fifteenth
century, and the upper portion was added by the Czar
Michael for his sons in 1636. It was somewhat modi-
fied by Feodor in 1682, but, with the exception of some
restorations in 1836, has been untouched for two hundred
years. It contains many curious rooms, to which the
low arched ceilings, quaint furniture and decorations give
a decidedly antique appearance. Here we find the bed-
room of the Czar Michael, the former council chamber,
etc., all magnificent in their way, but simplicity itself
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each of these great collections has its own peculiar
charm for travellers, no one hesitates to describe this
collection as the greatest and richest collection of
jewels in the world, for the profusion of rare presents
is simply bewildering. We pass in through the Armor
Hall, where are preserved the curious old arms and
the battle flags carried or captured by the Czars
and notables of Russia during the past thousand years.
Many of these arms are skillfully and finely inlaid
and covered with jewels. In a hall-way we find the trap-
pings used in the coronation {festivities, the thrones,
baldacchino and flags of the various Czars; and then
enter the famous “ Round Room.” In this part of the
collection the interest centres in the thrones, crowns,
sceptres, orbs androbes of the Czars and their rich chains
and orders. Among the greatest curiosities is the
double throne of Ivan-and Peter I. It i1s made of silver,
gilded, and is a piece of very skillful workmanship. Near
it is the throne of Ivan the Terrible, with its gooo gems.
Here arealso the captured thrones, many of them among
the richest in the collection—the throne of Kazan, the
ivory throne of Constantinople, dating back to 1472, the
throne of Persia of 1660, with i1ts 876 diamonds and hun-
dreds of other jewels—all these attract attention ; but
one, a comparatively simple affair, the throne of unhappy
Poland, will always have an especial interest for Ameri-
cans. The oldest gems in this room are those of the
orb and crown of Wladimir, falsely called the crown of
Monomachus. This mass of jewels was sent to .the
Czar by Constantine with a piece of the true cross, and
has imbedded inrich enamels §8 diamonds, 89 rubies, 23
sapphires, 5o emeralds and 37 other stones, all of good
size, and they make it a blaze of lght.
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ing the order of St. George, the highest Russian mili-
tary honor. We cross a floor which is an artistic mosaic
of more than twenty different sorts of wood, and above
us are four thousand electric lights, and for once imag-
ination deserts us, and we fail even to conceive the full
glory of which this place is capable, but we have realized
as much as falls to the lot of ordinary mortals. Next
comes the Alexander Hall, decorated in red and gold,
and constructed on the same grand scale with the addi-
tion of a handsome dome, the panels of the room be-
ing ornamented with the elegant golden salvers and salt
cellars presented to the Czar upon the opening of the
Palace.

Beyond this is the counterpart of St. George’s Hall,
but named for the order of St. Andrew, founded by
Peter the Great in 16g97. It is a little shorter than St.
George’s Hall, but otherwise the same proportions are
maintained. Its walls are covered with blue silk and
ornamented with gold. This is the throne-room of
Russia, the throne standing at the extreme end of the
room, beneath a pointed canopy richly decorated, above
which gleam the arms of the Romanof family.

It is hard to break the charm and come down from
such a scene to the contemplation of everyday affairs,
but such is the invariable rule ; the more enchanting the
dream the greater the contrast of reality. We have
seen a bit of fairyland, which every charm of the mystic
Russian skies has served to intensify in beauty ; and we
must hope that the future of the land which has made
such things possible will be brightened and elevated
under the guidance of the Czar who lives among these
influences, so potent for good.




